STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Beaufort County

Honorable Deadra L. Jefferson, Circuit Court Judge

---

**ORIGINAL**

**RECEIVED**

OCT 15 2019

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

NICK RUSSELL EVANGELISTA,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2018-000448

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

ROBERT M. DUDEK  
Chief Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

**

## STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

1.

Whether the court erred by ruling the expert testimony of Dr. Lois Veronen was not “appropriate” testimony for the pre-trial immunity hearing as to the battered person syndrome and appellant’s state of mind, since Dr. Veronen’s expert testimony was relevant at the immunity hearing in the same manner as it was in appellant’s self-defense case later before the jury?

2.

Whether the court erred by excluding evidence the decedent operated a financial scam to “return” merchandise she never purchased for refund money, and that she had appellant take over or participate in the scam once she was discovered, since this evidence was relevant to appellant’s battered person’s self-defense case, since it was probative of the level of manipulation and control the decedent exercised over appellant?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was indicted by the Beaufort County Grand Jury for the offense of the murder of his live-in girlfriend, Rebecca Melton. R. 597 – 598. Appellant's case was called to trial on December 11, 2014, before the Honorable Deadra L. Jefferson, and a jury. Trasi Campbell and James Bell represented appellant. Hunter Swanson and Marry Coppage Jones were the assistant solicitors. R. 1.

On December 14, 2014, the jury found appellant guilty of murder. R. 508, ll. 5-8. Judge Jefferson sentenced appellant to forty-five years' imprisonment. R. 509, ll. 7-12.

This appeal follows.

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

### **Expert testimony**

The decision of whether to admit or exclude testimony from an expert witness is within the sound discretion of the circuit court. State v. Price, 368 S.C. 494, 498, 629 S.E.2d 363, 365 (2006) (citations omitted). The circuit court's decision to admit expert testimony will not be reversed on appeal absent "a manifest abuse of discretion accompanied by probable prejudice." State v. Douglas, 369 S.C. 424, 429, 632 S.E.2d 845, 847-48 (2006) (citations omitted). An abuse of discretion occurs when the circuit court's conclusions "either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law." State v. Kromah, 401 S.C. 340, 349, 737 S.E.2d 490, 495 (2013) (quoting Douglas, 369 S.C. at 429-30, 632 S.E.2d at 848) (internal quotation marks omitted). "A [circuit] court's ruling on the admissibility of an expert's testimony constitutes an abuse of discretion where the ruling is manifestly arbitrary, unreasonable, or unfair." State v. Grubbs, 353 S.C. 374, 379, 577 S.E.2d 493, 496 (Ct. App. 2003) (citing Means v. Gates, 348 S.C. 161, 166, 558 S.E.2d 921, 924 (Ct.App.2001)). To show prejudice, the appellant must prove "that there is a reasonable probability the jury's verdict was influenced by the challenged evidence or the lack thereof." Fields v. Reg'l Med. Ctr. Orangeburg, 363 S.C. 19, 26, 609 S.E.2d 506, 509 (2005) (citing Means, 348 S.C. at 166, 558 S.E.2d at 924).

### **Admission of evidence**

"The admission of evidence is within the discretion of the trial court and will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion." State v. Hatcher, 392 S.C. 86, 91, 708 S.E.2d 750, 753 (2011) (quoting State v. Pagan, 369 S.C. 201, 208, 631 S.E.2d 262, 265 (2006)). "An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are

controlled by an error of law.” Id.; see also State v. Brockmeyer, 406 S.C. 324, 340, 751 S.E.2d 645, 653 (2013).

## ARGUMENT

1.

The judge erred by ruling the testimony of Dr. Lois Veronen was not “appropriate” testimony for the pre-trial immunity hearing as to the battered person’s syndrome and appellant’s state of mind, since Dr. Veronen’s expert testimony was relevant at the immunity hearing in the same manner as it was in appellant’s self-defense case later before the jury.

### **Relevant Facts**

Prior to trial, defense counsel Campbell reminded the judge that they had a pending motion to have Dr. Lois Veronen testify at the immunity hearing. “The reason Dr. Veronen should be able to testify at the immunity hearing is because she can speak to the specific elements in the statute, which the defendant has the burden to prove.” R. 3, ll. 3-19.

The judge asked how Dr. Veronen could ethically testify about something “she was not a witness to [the homicide].” “They can’t say what they think about somebody’s state of mind. . .” R. 3, l. 20 – 4, l. 5.

Defense counsel Campbell answered that Dr. Veronen was an expert in the field of the battered person syndrome and that would be the subject matter of her testimony. R. 4, l. 6 – 6, l. 23. Campbell explained that Dr. Veronen’s testimony went to the element that appellant reasonably believed he had to use deadly force to meet her attack. Campbell said that appellant’s state of mind and how he perceived the “rapid succession of events on that night, it’s extremely relevant evidence.” R. 7, ll. 17-23.

Defense counsel cited Dr. Veronen’s report which was attached to her motion and memorandum in support of motion to bar prosecution under S.C. Code §16-11-410 through 450. R. 510 – 572.

In this report, Dr. Veronen concluded that:

[N]ick has been a victim of violent acts, assaults, and degrading acts in his relationship with Becca Melton. These acts coupled with his compassion for her depression and his love for her, produced cognitive, affective, and behavioral changes in Nick that have come to be known as the “Battered Spouse Syndrome”. His cognitive problem-solving ability had been impaired, and he was reliving experiences of previous abusive episodes when she attacked him. He acted reflexively in a way to preserve his life. This was not a conscious free-thinking adult man capable of volitional acts, but a man biologically and psychologically responding to past threats and attacks.

R. 516 – 525.

The trial judge was dismissive of Dr. Veronen’s report, and she added: “[I]’ve never had a psychological expert testify specifically about what somebody thought who wasn’t there. And I don’t think it’s admissible.” The judge stated that not only did she think the expert testimony was admissible but she thought it would be unethical for Dr. Veronen to testify about appellant’s state of mind. R. 5, l. 24 – 7, l. 21.

The solicitor moved that Dr. Veronen not be allowed to testify at the immunity hearing. However, she stressed that it was appellant’s burden to prove he acted in self-defense and that he had no duty to retreat by a preponderance of the evidence at the immunity hearing. “And I think immunity is a bar to prosecution. It’s not a defense.” The judge responded, “It is, [That is] correct.” R. 8, ll. 13-20.

The solicitor added: “And so we are dealing with separate issues here. Self-defense is what the purview of battered spouse falls under. It’s only relevant to state of mind in a self-defense case. The defendant has already made statements regarding what happened. And putting up the testimony of Dr. Veronen to expound on his ever-evolving story of what happened the night of the murder does not seem appropriate *at this stage*. There’s certainly a lot of evidence to the contrary that the defendant was in fear.” The solicitor added that she intended to

prove the decedent did not pose a threat to appellant, “and I think that it just presents a factual issue, *not a matter of law at this point that the court can rule on.*” R. 8, l. 22 – 9, l. 9. (emphasis added). The judge would agree that the expert testimony on the battered person syndrome was admissible for the jury to consider self-defense, but improper for the court to consider as to immunity from prosecution.

Defense counsel Campbell responded that the defense was only relying on Subsection C of the Castle Doctrine statute [S.C. Code §16-11-440 (C)] and not the presumption of reasonable fear regarding an intruder [S.C. Code §16-11-440 (A)]. Under Subsection C, whether or not appellant was reasonably in fear “is a fact that Your Honor would have to find at the immunity hearing. And Dr. Veronen is critical to the proof of why his fear was reasonable.” R. 9, ll. 10-21.

The judge then challenged defense counsel Campbell to cite her a case that says “a therapist can tell me about somebody’s state of mind.” The judge repeated that she did not think Dr. Veronen’s testimony was proper and said that it would be “speculative at best.” R. 9, l. 22 – 10, l. 12.

Defense counsel Campbell argued that appellant was suffering from post-traumatic stress disorder and trauma from repeated attacks on him by the decedent, and that this evidence was relevant. R. 10, l. 23 – 11, l. 6. The judge disagreed, stating she did not think any of this “rises to the level of stand your ground.” The judge said, “It might amount to a self-defense argument. I don’t know that it’s going to meet the preponderance of the evidence of stand your ground.” R. 11, l. 25 – 12, l. 5.

During the immunity hearing, appellant testified that he was a physician's assistant with an orthopedic practice. He met the decedent, Rebecca Melton, online after his divorce. R. 43, l. 5 – 46, l. 3.

After about six months of dating, the decedent moved in with appellant. Appellant said the decedent had a young son from a previous marriage but she was not allowed to visit the child. Appellant testified this made the decedent suicidal. R. 45, l. 22 – 48, l. 15.

The verbal abuse of appellant started after the decedent drank and mixed medication with alcohol. Appellant explained, for example, that on St. Patrick's Day in 2013 that the decedent attacked him. "She pulled my hair, scratched my face." R. 49, l. 2 – 50, l. 17.

On a Memorial Day weekend, the decedent again became violent and threatened appellant's children and his father. The decedent said she could have them killed by "her father" who had ties with organized crime. Appellant said he believed the decedent could have him and his family killed. "She was very persuasive, very angry. I didn't know where that anger came from a lot of times. So on that night, she again physically abused me, pulled my hair, scratched me. I did call the police." R. 50, l. 23 – 52, l. 24.

Appellant explained that the threats continued, and that he would have to check in to hotels on occasion when the decedent became violent. He also stayed with his ex-wife on one occasion. On another occasion, the decedent stabbed appellant in his forearms with the car keys, and appellant, a physician's assistant, was able to treat his own wound with a "compressive wrap." R. 57, l. 8 – 59, l. 2.

The decedent was arrested twice for criminal domestic violence on appellant, and appellant paid for her lawyer after these arrests. R. 59, l. 4 – 60, l. 4. The decedent was also

ordered to wear an “alcohol leg monitor,” which appellant said she did for thirty days. R. 60, ll. 5-24.

Appellant explained that the decedent continued to attack him physically, that she was taken to jail for the attacks, and that she continued to abuse her medication. R. 62, l. 5 – 66, l. 11.

Appellant also testified that he knew the decedent was involved in defrauding businesses, and that the decedent solicited her daughter to be part of that scheme. The decedent also told appellant “you’re going to do all the false returns because she wasn’t allowed to do it anymore,” and appellant did that at her insistence. R. 68, ll. 13-25. The judge, as seen in issue two infra, would not allow the jury to hear this testimony.

Further, when the decedent was angry with appellant she would hide his clothes and sometimes bury his clothes so he would have to dig them up and wear them. R. 69, l. 4 – 70, l. 19.

As will be seen infra, Dr. Veronen testified before the jury that this was another manner of the decedent manipulating, controlling, and humiliating appellant. Appellant’s lawyer, Dudley Ruffalo, would also testify in the presence of the jury that appellant seemed very downcast. “His clothes were disheveled, somewhat dirty, unironed. He appeared at ends as the expression goes.” R. 420, l. 19 – 421, l. 5.

Appellant testified on the night that he killed the decedent she attacked him again with her car keys, which she used “like a weapon, pulling my hair, scratching my throat.” Appellant said he was afraid the decedent would stab him again, and he only remembered “grabbing some

bubble wrap to try to make her stay quiet.”<sup>1</sup> R. 70, l. 23 – 73, l. 17. Dr. Veronen, when allowed to testify as to the battered person defense in the presence of the jury as to appellant’s state of mind at the time he killed the decedent spoke of appellant’s “disassociative times . . .” R. 389, ll. 4-13.

On cross-examination, appellant said numerous 911 calls were made. Appellant told the 911 dispatcher in one call that “my girlfriend is threatening me continuously . . . I’m with her in the same place.” R. 74, ll. 3-23.

Appellant confirmed that the only weapon he was stabbed with was the decedent’s car keys. Being a physician’s assistant, he treated himself for his injuries. R. 76, ll. 2-22. Appellant also said he did attempt to hide the truth that the decedent was “horribly abusive” to him from others. R. 78, ll. 17-20. Appellant confirmed that he was 5’8,” 165 pounds. The decedent was 5’4”, 120 pounds. R. 77, ll. 8-15.

After he killed the decedent, appellant admitted he wrote in his journal that she did not deserve to die and that she was a good and beautiful person. Appellant also wrote, “There are two sides to every story, the truth is somewhere in between. I say that not to defend my action, because it’s indefensible.” R. 82, ll. 7-23.

Appellant confirmed that the decedent was naked at the time of their final struggle, and that he told the investigators he wanted her to stop breathing when he killed her. R. 86, l. 13 – 87, l. 23. Appellant repeated that the decedent attacked him with her car keys before he killed her. R. 88, ll. 12-23.

Investigator Jon Adams testified he was called by Palmetto Dunes security and they found a “deceased white female that was nude in a spare bedroom in the house she shared with

---

<sup>1</sup> The decedent was still naked at the time she was killed. Appellant said they had sex earlier before the decedent became physically violent once again. R. 86 – 88.

appellant.” R. 89, l. 21 – 90, l. 5. Adams said his investigation led him to understand that this was a “tumultuous” relationship that Adams claimed was “mutually combative, that they were drawn to each other for some strange reason, because they would move from place to place [together].” R. 91, l. 23 – 92, l. 3.

Adams testified when he was dispatched to the location, “I was not sure if Mr. Evangelista wasn’t also a victim of homicide.” R. 99, ll. 2-7. Adams said he was familiar with 911 calls that appellant made where appellant told the 911 operator that “My girlfriend hit me. It’s over. I’ve had enough. You are going to jail. . . You should have thought about that when you fucking beat me up.” He knew the decedent had hit appellant with her fists and that she threw a bottle and that “his face was bleeding.” R. 102, l. 5 – 103, l. 17.

Adams also said he learned that the decedent sent text messages to one of her girlfriends where she wrote: “I made him [appellant] dig his clothes up again. He will know better next time than to mess with me again.” R. 103, l. 18 – 104, l. 5. Adams confirmed that the decedent was attempting to demean appellant and joking with one of her girlfriends about how she treated appellant. R. 103, l. 24 – 104, l. 4. Adams finally confirmed that the condominium was “a wreck.” Adams searched it when the decedent’s body was found, and a knife was found “on a center table by the bedrooms.” R. 112, ll. 2-24.

The solicitor then argued that appellant brought on the difficulty in the relationship and that “just because this was a toxic relationship, does not mean the victim was the primary aggressor.” The solicitor also argued that appellant continued to come back to the home despite his complaints of abuse. She noted that appellant was larger and more physically fit than the decedent, and that the decedent was naked and allegedly without a weapon when appellant killed

her. The solicitor argued this all presented a jury issue and that the defense had not met their burden on statutory immunity. R. 115, l. 10 – 116, l. 20.

Defense counsel Campbell then argued that under Subsection C of the immunity statute, appellant was in a place he had a right to be and acting lawfully. Campbell repeated that immunity was sought under Subsection C of the statute, and she referenced the battered person syndrome diagnosis. Campbell said that the decedent continuously abused appellant, “She pulled him in, the grifter that she was, her machinations and her schemes and what she did to him, she had done to him so many times before.” “It did end that night when he protected himself, as he had a right to do under South Carolina law, from another attack.” R. 117, l. 25 – 120, l. 15.

The solicitor noted that the defense referred to the “battered spouse syndrome as a diagnosis.” “[T]here’s been absolutely no testimony regarding battered spouse syndrome.” She claimed appellant had a duty to retreat and she argued appellant was not entitled to a presumption of fear under the statute. The defense, again, was only seeking immunity under Subsection C, the stand your ground provision, and not claiming the advantage of the Subsection A presumption. R. 120, l. 18 – 121, l. 10.

The judge ruled that appellant had failed to meet his burden to prove he was entitled to immunity by a preponderance of the evidence. The judge noted that appellant could present his self-defense case to the jury but that she was denying immunity. She said she reserved the right to issue a written order. However, a written order was never issued. R. 121, l. 12 – 124, l. 24.

## Discussion

As seen, the defense's immunity argument was grounded in S.C. Code § 16-11-440(C). Appellant was not relying on the "presumption of reasonable fear of imminent peril of death or great bodily injury" contained in S.C. Code §16-11-440(A).

Rather, S.C. Code § 16-11-440(C) states, "A person who is not engaged in unlawful activity and who is attacked in another place where he has the right to be, including, but not limited to, his place of business, has no duty to retreat and has a right to stand his ground and meet force with force, including deadly force, if he reasonably believes it is necessary to prevent death or great bodily injury to himself or another person or to prevent the commission of a violent crime as defined in Section 16-1-60."

The principal case involving this subsection of the immunity statute, which the defense relied on, was State v. Jones, 416 S.C. 283, 786 S.E.2d 132 (2016). See, Motion and Memorandum in Support of Motion to Bar Prosecution under S.C. Code § 16-11-410 – 450 at pp. 4-5; R. 513 – 514.

In State v. Jones, our Supreme Court rejected the state's argument that -- appellant being in the same home she shared with her decedent boyfriend, and the parking lot of that apartment complex -- was not in "another place where she had a right to be." The Court determined that the trial judge correctly found "another place" in the statute intended to encompass dwellings, residences, occupied vehicles, along with "any other place where a person has a right to be and is acting lawfully." State v. Jones, 416 S.C. at 289, 786 S.E.2d at 135.

In State v. Jones, Jones was attacked by her boyfriend and she stabbed him on her way out of the apartment. The boyfriend was following Jones around, apparently ensuring she did not take any of his possessions when she left. Jones had grabbed a knife for protection and

because she believed her boyfriend was getting ready to hit her again she “grabbed the knife out of [her] shirt and stabbed him’ one time in the chest. Jones then ran out of the apartment.” State v. Jones, 416 S.C. at 288, 786 S.E.2d at 135.

In State v. Jones, applying Subsection C, the Supreme Court found the trial judge correctly ruled that Jones was entitled to immunity under S.C. Code § 16-11-440(C), because she: (1) was not engaged in unlawful activity at the time of the attack; (2) was attacked in a place where she had a right to be; (3) she did not have a duty to retreat but, rather, had the right to stand her ground and meet force with deadly force; and (4) acted in self-defense. State v. Jones, 416 S.C. at 289 – 290, 786 S.E.2d at 135.

Here, defense counsel correctly did not rely on the presumption contained in S.C. Code § 16-11-440(A), because appellant and the decedent in this case had an equal right to be in the residence. See, State v. Curry, 406 S.C. 364, 369, 752 S.E.2d 263, 265 (2013).

The solicitor in this case properly argued the defense had the burden by the “preponderance of the evidence” to prove appellant was entitled to immunity under the statute. See, State v. Duncan, 392 S.C. 404, 411, 709 S.E.2d 662, 665 (2011). However, the solicitor successfully urged that Dr. Veronen’s testimony was not proper during the immunity hearing because this involved a ruling by the trial judge as a “matter of law,” and not a jury verdict as to self-defense.

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