ORIGINAL

**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

Appeal from Beaufort County
The Honorable Deadra L. Jefferson, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2018-000448

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

NICK RUSSELL EVANGELISTA,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

W. JEFFREY YOUNG
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

W. JOSEPH MAYE
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 100851
P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-6305

DUFFIE STONE
Fourteenth Circuit Solicitor's Office
PO Box 1880
Bluffton, SC 29910

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

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

ARGUMENT

I. Appellant's issue concerning the admissibility and alleged exclusion of battered persons syndrome testimony is not preserved for appellate review.

The trial court did not give a final ruling on the admissibility of Dr. Veronen's battered persons syndrome testimony. Defense counsel did not properly preserve for appellate review the matter by demanding a final ruling from the court, did not following the explicit instructions of the court that would have compelled the court to rule, and specifically, did not call the witness. As such the matter is not preserved for appellate review and the denial of immunity under the PPPA should be affirmed.

“In order for an issue to be preserved for appellate review, it must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial [court]. Issues not raised and ruled upon in the trial court will not be considered on appeal.” *State v. King*, 424 S.C. 188, 198–99, 818 S.E.2d 204, 209 (2018), reh'g denied (Sept. 21, 2018) (*State v. Dunbar*, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 693-94 (2003)). “A ruling in limine is not a final ruling on the admissibility of evidence.” *State v. Simpson*, 325 S.C. 37, 42, 479 S.E.2d 57, 60 (1996). The only exception to this rule is when the motion in limine is made “immediately prior to the introduction of the evidence in question.” *State v. Atieh*, 397 S.C. 641, 646, 725 S.E.2d 730, 733 (Ct. App. 2012) (citing *State v. Forrester*, 343 S.C. 637, 642, 541 S.E.2d 837, 840 (2001)).

In the case at hand the parties took up *pre-trial and pre-hearing* motions as the first order of business before the court. Defense counsel raised *as a motion in limine* prior to the PPPA hearing that Dr. Veronen a be allowed to testify as an expert concerning battered persons syndrome as it relates to Appellant. (R. p. 3, lines 3-6). Defense counsel and the trial court engaged in a lengthy discussion of the matter concerning Dr. Veronen's testimony, and much confusion arose from the motion, as it is would seem the trial court was under the impression that *only Dr. Veronen* would be testifying for the defense. (R. p. 6, lines 1-12). This confusion can be laid at the feet of defense counsel as she informed the court at the outset of her motion that Dr. Veronen's would be her only witness. (R. p. 3, lines 3-8).³

Moreover, the trial court made two explicit instructions to defense counsel that would demonstrate a clear lack of ruling on this matter. First, the trial court instructed defense counsel explicitly that she needed to call her witness and draw a contemporaneous objection; she refused to rule in a vacuum. As the PPPA hearing had not begun, and no testimony of any kind had been elicited, this instruction highlights the significance that a motion in limine cannot serve as a final ruling on the admissibility of evidence. *Simpson*, 479 S.E.2d at 60. While no ruling on the motion in limine was ever provided either, the court's instruction made clear that she needed to move on from the motion, have the witness called to testify, and elicit a contemporaneous objection so as to properly rule on the issue. Second, the trial court specifically instructed defense counsel to provide case law in support of the argument that a therapist can offer testimony in support of a defendant's state of mind; defense counsel assured the court she would

³ Some additional confusion in this record exists by the fact that the parties first discussed the motion to admit testimony from Dr. Veronen. They then moved on to testimony from Sergeant Nix and Investigator Greene pertinent to the *Jackson v. Denno* hearing. The parties then addressed defense counsel's motion that the PPPA unconstitutionally shifts the burden of proof upon the defense. Finally, the parties circled back around to conduct the PPPA hearing. (R. p. 11-16; p. 16-42; p. 42-124).

do so, but no case law was ever discussed on the record for purposes of the immunity hearing. (R. p. 9, line 17 through p. 10, line 3).

Regardless of confusion, while the court expressed its skepticism as to the admissibility of such testimony with the understanding that Dr. Veronen would be the only witness presented for stand-your-ground immunity, *she never actually gave a ruling on the matter*. The transcript reads as follows:

THE COURT: Which one do you want to do first? I would think the *Jackson v. Denno* might be quicker. What do you all want to do?

MS. SWANSON: May be quicker, but I suppose depending on the Court's ruling, we wouldn't be able to proceed after the immunity motion, so . . .

THE COURT: Doesn't mean that I'm going to rule right this minute and not going to think about it.

MS. SWANSON: The State doesn't believe that the immunity hearing will be dispositive, but that would be the one that would logically make most sense to take up.

THE COURT: Well, I don't know that I'm going to rule contemporaneously. I may think about it overnight. So up to y'all, whichever one you want to proceed with first.

MS. SWANSON: We can go ahead and go through the *Jackson v. Denno*. The State calls Philip Nix.

(R. p. 16, lines 6-21). At the very beginning of the immunity hearing defense counsel comments, "I am not going to address the issue with Dr. Veronen until after Mr. Evangelista testifies." (R. p. 42, lines 17-18). The Court instructs her, "Call your witness. They need to make an objection." (R. p. 42, line 19-20). Defense counsel called Appellant to testify, and he proceeded to testify extensively for purposes of stand-your-ground immunity under PPPA. (R. p. 42-115). Following Appellant's testimony counsel did not return back to arguments for admission of Dr. Veronen's testimony, nor did she call her as a witness. (R. p. 89, lines 1-10). At the conclusion of Investigator Adams testimony, offered by the state in its case against immunity, defense counsel again informed the court that she have nothing further to add for the hearing. The trial court

moved on to arguments as to the merits of the immunity hearing and denied immunity under the PPPA. (R. p. 115, lines 1- 9; p. 121, line 11 through p.124, line 19). There is no further mention or discussion of the issue at all by defense counsel, and there is no ruling on the matter by the court.

As such, the matter is essentially abandoned, as counsel informed the court she would return to the matter, but then forwent any further argument or discussion at the appropriate time. There is no decision on the matter for which appellate review can be conducted. The matter is therefore unpreserved for appellate review and the trial court's ruling denying immunity under the PPPA should be affirmed.

In the alternative to Respondent's arguments that the issue concerning the admissibility of Dr. Veronen's testimony is unpreserved for appellate review, the trial court correctly ruled that Appellant failed to meet his burden by a preponderance of the evidence in light of the testimony provided by Appellant and Investigator Adams and noted that the testimony of these witnesses raised questions of fact that should be heard and decided by the jury.

The Protection of Persons and Property Act is not a defense, but instead provides immunity from prosecution. *State v. Curry*, 406 S.C. 364, 370, 752 S.E.2d 263, 265 (2013). "[I]mmunity under the [PPPA] is predicated on an accused demonstrating the elements of self-defense to the satisfaction of the trial court by the preponderance of the evidence, save the duty to retreat." *Pettigrew v. Stephen*, No. 217CV02894BHHMGB, 2018 WL 4957401, at *8 (D.S.C. July 30, 2018), report and recommendation adopted, No. 2:17-CV-2894-BHH, 2018 WL 4677712 (D.S.C. Sept. 28, 2018) (citing *State v. Douglas*, 411 S.C. 307, 318, 768 S.E.2d 232, 238 (Ct. App. 2014), reh'g denied (Feb. 19, 2015) (quotations and citations omitted)). A claim of immunity under the Act requires a pretrial determination using a preponderance of the evidence

standard, which this court reviews under an abuse of discretion standard of review. *Curry*, 752 S.E.2d at 266. When a defendant's claim of self-defense presents a "quintessential jury question," such a claim for self-defense should be submitted to the jury for consideration is not a situation warranting immunity from prosecution. See *Id.* at 267. "[W]hile the trial court's pretrial immunity ruling and the jury's verdict on a claim of self-defense may apply the same statutory justification standard, the court's ruling must be based solely on the evidence presented at a pretrial hearing, while the jury's verdict must be based solely on the evidence presented at trial, which may be considerably different." *Cervantes-Pavon*, 827 S.E.2d at 569 (quoting *Sifuentes v. State*, 293 Ga. 441, 444, 746 S.E.2d 127, 131 n.3 (2013)). In the event appellate review discovers reversible error attributable only to the trial court's ruling during an immunity hearing under the PPPA, a remand strictly for a new immunity is satisfactory relief. See *Id.*

In a PPPA stand-your-ground immunity hearing, a defendant must prove by a preponderance of the evidence the elements of self-defense, with exception to the duty to retreat, which the Act explicitly removes from consideration, *under certain circumstances where one of the individuals has no rightful presence*. See S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-440(B). The remaining elements of self-defense require defendant to show that (1) the defendant must be without fault in bringing on the difficulty, (2) the defendant must have actually believed he was in imminent danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily injury, or he actually was in such imminent danger, and (3) if his defense is based upon his belief of imminent danger, a reasonably prudent man of ordinary firmness and courage would have entertained the same belief. If the defendant actually was in imminent danger, the circumstances were such as would warrant a man of ordinary prudence, firmness and courage to strike the fatal blow in order to save himself from

serious bodily harm or losing his own life. *State v. Jones*, 416 S.C. 283, 301, 786 S.E.2d 132, 142 (2016).

Appellant's desire to admit testimony concerning Dr. Veronen's battered persons syndrome expertise may well have addressed the Appellant's state-of-mind. However, that testimony would not address major factual disputes presented by the testimonies of Appellant and Investigator Adams that would address the first and third elements of self-defense.

In particular, and of most import, Appellant himself offered conflicting testimony as to whether Victim had keys in her hand or not during the alleged assault. His testimony leaves no confident resolution of that question, and Investigator Adams testimony demonstrates that there was no weapon found with or near Victim. The inconsistent testimony draws into question both the first and third elements of self-defense, as having no weapon at all would result in Appellant bringing about the deadly conflict, and the reasonableness of any individual finding imminent danger is substantially insufficient for the preponderance of evidence standard. The record also demonstrates evidence that Appellant was able to repel Victim's *alleged* attack by backhanding her to the ground, which would indicate that no deadly force was needed, as non-deadly force had already proven successful. Again the testimony raised dispute as to whether Appellant was responsible for bringing about the deadly altercation by acting further and whether such interpretation of peril would be shared by a reasonable and prudent man of ordinary courage. This same issue is compounded by the fact that Victim's body was found with one arm pinned underneath her own body, the other in a suggestively defensive posture, and by the very nature in which she was killed – suffocation. Lastly, there are statements from Appellant himself which suggest that his actions were out of a desire to keep Victim quiet, and not at all related to a belief of imminent danger.

The trial court ruled that Appellant failed to meet his burden by a preponderance of the evidence. (R. p. 123, lines 3-4). The trial court likewise found that the testimony and evidence presented a “factual dispute as to the events on August 26, 2014, and it represents a jury issue.” (R. p. 123, lines 9-11). The trial court correctly recognized that Appellant’s testimony included comments that he could not recall the crime; specifically, he testified he could not recall the exact moments during the attack, or the location of the keys he claims he was attacked with. (R. p. 123, lines 11-12; p. 73, lines 4-8; p. 88, line 12-23). The court properly concluded that for purposes of an immunity hearing she could not rule of matters of fact that Appellant himself could not remember. (R. p. 123, lines 12-13). Despite those limitations in the evidence, the trial court was aware of the convincing evidence, rising to a level that would refute Appellant’s preponderance of the evidence standard, “that deadly force may not well have been necessary.” The court noted the lack of evidence that the Victim was armed, the lack of evidence that she possessed ordinary objects that would have posed a threat of deadly force, and no evidence of imminent danger (recounting again Appellant’s inability to recall specifically the moments during the deadly altercation). (R. p. 123, lines 14-24). The trial court also recognized that the empirical evidence weighed heavily against immunity, given that Victim was naked, and that she was disproportionate in size, strength, and health to Appellant such that a threat of deadly force would not have existed. (R. p. 123, line 25 through p. 124, line 6). The trial court’s review of the record and her ruling that Appellant was not entitled to immunity was sound, irrespective of matters concerning battered persons syndrome and the second element of self-defense.

Moreover, “error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt where it did not contribute to the verdict obtained.” *State v. Fletcher*, 379 S.C. 17, 25, 664 S.E.2d 480, 484 (2008) (citing *Arnold v. State*, 309 S.C. 157, 172, 420 S.E.2d 834, 842 (1992)). “An insubstantial error

not affecting the result of the trial is harmless where ‘guilt has been conclusively proven by competent evidence such that no other rational conclusion can be reached.’ ” *Fletcher*, 664 S.E.2d at 484 (quoting *State v. Bailey*, 298 S.C. 1, 5, 377 S.E.2d 581, 584 (1989)). As the ruling on immunity was reached by the court outside the context of perceived fear under element two, any impropriety as to the admission of Dr. Veronen’s testimony would be rendered harmless. The facts of this case are so substantially insufficient that a preponderance of the evidence standard could not be met by Appellant as to any of the elements in question.

The PPPA does no more than grant presumptive fear of imminent peril to those using deadly force while in a place they have a rightful expectation of safety, against intrusion by those who do not have rightful presence. Absent a clear legislative intent to the contrary, which is unquestionably absent in S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-420-420-450, other “justification” defenses cannot be incorporated into the application of the statute, as such is not a defense to criminal prosecution, but an immunity from prosecution.

The ruling denying immunity should therefore be affirmed.

ISSUE II: Exclusion of testimony concerning Victim’s alleged merchandise scam

The issue as it was presented at trial

During Appellant’s case-in-chief, defense counsel sought to elicit testimony from Appellant that Victim participated in a merchandise return scam. The alleged testimony would have informed the jury that Victim would buy clothing and merchandise, remove the tags using a special tool, and then attach those tags on old or thrift shop garments in order to claim a return of the money she used to purchase the actual item. Appellant testified that she did this regularly, believes she had her daughter assist on one occasion, and when Victim’s scheme was discovered by retail stores, she had Appellant go in her place to perpetuate the scheme. The court conducted this portion of the Appellant’s examination in-camera. (R. p. 307, line 1 through p. 308, line 13).

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